

Anne Arundel radio Club, Inc

PO Box 308

Davidsonville , MD 21035

Board @W3VPR.ORG

***Anne Arundel Radio Club***  
***Bylaws***

# *Table of Contents*

## **ARTICLE I Office, Purposes**

SECTION 1. Principal Office

SECTION 2. Other Offices

SECTION 3. Purposes

## **ARTICLE II Members**

SECTION 1. Number of Members

SECTION 2. Qualifications

SECTION 3. Applications

SECTION 4. Dues

SECTION 5. Rights and Privileges

SECTION 6. Resignations and Termination

SECTION 7. Annual Meeting, Regular Business Meetings

SECTION 8. Special Meetings

SECTION 9. Place of Holding Meetings

SECTION 10. Notice of Meetings

SECTION 11. Quorum

SECTION 12. Conduct of Meetings

SECTION 13. Voting

## **ARTICLE III Board of Directors**

SECTION 1. General Powers

SECTION 2. Number and Term of Office

SECTION 3. Nomination and Election of Directors

SECTION 4. Filling of Vacancies

SECTION 5. Place of Meeting

SECTION 6. Regular Meetings

SECTION 7. Special or Emergency Meetings

SECTION 8. Quorum

SECTION 9. Required Vote

SECTION 10. Nominating Committee

SECTION 11. Committees and Divisions

## **ARTICLE IV Officers**

SECTION 1. Election, Tenure

SECTION 2. Powers and Duties of the President

SECTION 3. Powers and Duties of the Vice President

SECTION 4. Secretary

SECTION 5. Treasurer

SECTION 6. Budget

## **ARTICLE V Bank Accounts**

SECTION 1. Bank Accounts

## **ARTICLE VI Miscellaneous Provisions**

SECTION 1. Fiscal Year  
SECTION 2. Notices  
SECTION 3. Conflict of Interest  
SECTION 4. Robert's Rules of Order

**ARTICLE VII Amendments**

SECTION 1. Amendment of Articles of Incorporation  
SECTION 2. Amendment of Bylaws

**ARTICLE VIII Indemnification**

SECTION 1. Definitions  
SECTION 2. Indemnification of Directors and Officers

**ARTICLE IX General Liability Insurance**

SECTION 1. Provision of General Liability Insurance

***ANNE ARUNDEL RADIO CLUB, INC***

***BYLAWS***

***(2026)***

***ARTICLE I***

***Office Purposes***

SECTION 1. *Principal Office.* The principal office of the Corporation shall be in Anne Arundel County, Maryland.

SECTION 2. *Other Offices.* The Corporation may also have an office or offices in such other place or places as the business of the Corporation may require and the Board of Directors may from time to time appoint.

SECTION 3. *Purposes.* The purposes for which the Corporation is formed are as follows: To promote the pleasure and benefits of amateur radio, develop individual knowledge and proficiency in amateur radio operation, promote amateur radio operation in the general community, and facilitate emergency and public service communication, with the rules and regulations established by the Federal Communications Commission (FCC). Said corporation is organized exclusively for charitable, religious, educational and scientific purposes, the making of distributions to organizations that qualify as exempt organizations under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, or the corresponding section of any future federal tax code.

***ARTICLE II***

***Members***

SECTION 1. *Number of Members.* There shall be no restriction upon the number of members who may belong to the Corporation: provided however, that in order to fulfill the Corporation's mission at least fifty-one percent (51%) of the membership at any time shall be persons who are licensed by the FCC as amateur radio operators.

SECTION 2. *Qualifications.* Membership in the Corporation shall be open to individuals having a particular interest in the support of the purposes of the Corporation and shall be open to all persons regardless of race, sex, creed, national origin, or physical or mental disabilities.

SECTION 3. *Application.* All applications for membership shall be made in writing to the Corporation, with appropriate dues. The application constitutes an agreement on the part of the applicant, if granted membership, to adhere to all bylaws, rules and regulations of the Corporation. The application for membership in the Club shall include a waiver of liability that must be read and signed by each adult applicant and signed by a parent or guardian for each applicant that is a minor. The admission of an applicant to membership shall require the approval of a majority of voting members present at any scheduled meeting where a quorum is established.

Failing the ability to achieve a quorum at a scheduled meeting the admission of an applicant shall be determined by a majority of the Board of Directors together with a majority of the Members present so as to avoid unnecessary and unreasonable delay in membership admissions.

SECTION 4. *Dues.* The Board of Directors shall adopt a comprehensive plan or schedule of membership dues that will provide revenues for the Corporation in a fair and equitable manner from each of the members. Such a plan or schedule may be changed from time to time pursuant to a resolution of the Board of Directors to reflect the needs of the Corporation. Membership must approve any changes to club dues. Members who fail to pay their dues within sixty (60) days of the due date (beginning of the fiscal year) shall be automatically placed in a suspended status until dues are paid and the members status is returned to current.

SECTION 5. *Rights and Privileges.* To the extent provided herein, each member in good standing shall have the right to vote and hold office. Use of the Corporation's facilities and equipment shall be made available to Members in good standing under policies established by the Board of Directors. In those instances where the use of facilities and equipment requires an FCC license, such use will be permitted to those with appropriate FCC licenses and to unlicensed members in properly supervised training sessions.

SECTION 6. *Resignations and Termination.* All resignations shall be tendered to the Corporation in writing and addressed to the Secretary. Any member may be expelled for cause, including misconduct, upon recommendation passed by a majority of the Board of Directors at any meeting called for such purpose. Such member shall be notified of the intention of the Board to consider that members expulsion and shall be given the opportunity of a hearing before the Board of Directors. Removal will become effective upon notification of the member following a majority vote of the Board of Directors. An expelled member may reapply for membership after a period of one (1) year and must be approved for membership as described in Section 3.

SECTION 7. *Annual Meeting, Membership Meetings.* The annual meeting of the members of the Corporation shall be held on the first Thursday in December, at a time to be designated by the Board of Directors, for the purpose of electing Officers and Directors to succeed those whose terms shall have expired as of the end of the fiscal year, and for the transaction of such other corporate business as may come before the meeting. Regular membership meetings shall be held on the first and third Thursday of each month and both are open to the public.

SECTION 8. *Special Meetings.* Special meetings of the members may be called at any time and for any purpose or purposes by the President, by the Vice President or by a majority of the Board of Directors. Said meeting shall be called forthwith by the President, by the Vice President, the Secretary or any Director of the Corporation upon the request, in writing, of a majority of all the members entitled to vote on the business to be transacted at such meeting. Such requests shall state the purpose or purposes of the meeting. Notice of the meeting shall be sent to the members at least ten (10) days before the meeting.

Business transacted at all special meetings of members shall be confined to the purpose or purposes stated in the notice of the meeting. Special meetings shall be open to the public.

SECTION 9. *Place of Holding Meetings.* All meetings of members shall be held at such place as designated from time to time by the Board of Directors.

SECTION 10. *Notice of Meetings.* Written notice of each meeting of the members shall be transmitted electronically via the Internet or mailed, postage prepaid, by the Secretary to each member of record entitled to vote thereat at his or her email address or post office address, as it appears upon the books of the Corporation, at least (10) days before the meeting. Written notice of scheduled meetings will also be posted on the club website. Each such notice shall state the place, day, and hour at which the meeting is to be held and, in case of any special meeting, shall state briefly the purpose or purposes thereof.

SECTION 11. *Quorum.* The presence in person of twenty members of the Corporation shall constitute a quorum at all meetings of the members except as otherwise provided by law, by the Articles of Incorporation or by these Bylaws. Members of the Corporation may participate in a meeting by means of a conference telephone, computer or similar communications equipment if all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other at the same time. Participation in a meeting by these means constitutes presence in person at the meeting. If less than a quorum shall be in attendance at the time for which the meeting shall have been called, the meeting may be adjourned by a majority vote of the members present or represented, without any notice other than by announcement at the meeting until a quorum shall attend. At any adjourned meeting at which a quorum shall attend, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted if the meeting had been held as originally called.

SECTION 12. *Conduct of Meetings.* Meetings of members shall be presided over by the President of the Corporation or, if the President is not present, by the Vice President, or, if none of said Officers is present, by a chairman to be elected at the meeting. The Secretary of the Corporation shall act as secretary of such meetings, in the absence of the Secretary, the presiding Officer may appoint a person to act as Secretary of the meeting.

SECTION 13. *Voting.* At meetings of members every member entitled to vote shall have one (1) vote. Such vote must be cast in person, and the vote of a person participating by teleconference shall be deemed cast in person. All elections shall be had and all questions shall be decided by a majority of the votes cast at a duly constituted meeting, except as otherwise provided by law, in the Articles of Incorporation or by these Bylaws.

If the chairman of the meeting shall so determine, a vote by ballot may be taken upon any election or matter, and the vote shall be so taken upon the request of ten percent (10%) or more of all of the members present entitled to vote on such election or matter. In either of such events, the ballots (including any ballot submitted by teleconference) shall be received and be taken in charge and all questions surrounding the qualification of voters and the acceptance or rejections of votes shall be decided by the tellers. Such tellers shall be appointed by the chairman of said meeting.

### ***ARTICLE III***

#### ***Board of Directors***

SECTION 1. *General Powers.* The property and business of the Corporation shall be managed under the direction of the Board of Directors of the Corporation.

SECTION 2. *Number and Term of Office.* The number of Directors shall be seven (7) or such other number as may be designated from time to time by resolution of a majority of the entire Board of Directors. The Directors shall serve for a period of one (1) year.

Board Members shall take office on January 1st and serve a term through the end of the calendar year December 31st (the Corporation Fiscal Year). At each annual meeting, the successor Directors shall be elected to hold office for a term of one (1) year.

SECTION 3. *Nomination and Election of Directors.* By no later than the last Thursday in October of every year, the Nominating Committee shall present a slate of proposed Officers and At-Large Directors to the Board of Directors of the Corporation, and shall present that slate to the Membership at the November business meeting and through the Corporation's newsletter and on the club website. Additional nominations may be made by Members at the November business meeting. Nominations will be closed at the end of the November business meeting. The November newsletter shall be distributed to Members after the November business meeting, and no later than November 15th. The President shall notify all Members not less than ten (10) days before the Annual Meeting of the names of the candidates, the date, time and location of the meeting. Voting shall be by ballot when there are two (2) or more candidates for President, Vice President, Secretary or Treasurer or when there are more candidates for At-Large Directors than open positions. An open vote may be taken for any candidate who is unopposed. Newly elected Board Members shall take office on January 1st and serve a term through the end of the calendar year December 31st (the Corporation Fiscal Year).

SECTION 4. *Filling of Vacancies.* In the event of a vacancy in the Board of Directors through death, resignation, disqualification, removal or other cause, the remaining Directors, by affirmative vote of the majority thereof, will select a successor to hold office for the remaining portion of the term of the Director whose place is vacant.

Similarly, and in the event of the number of Directors being increased as provided in these Bylaws, the additional Directors so provided for shall be elected by a majority of the entire Board of Directors already in office, and shall hold office until the next annual meeting of members.

On recommendation by a majority of the Board of Directors, any Officer or Director may be removed from office for misconduct, violation of his or her trust, or any other just cause, upon the affirmative vote of a majority of the members entitled to vote at any special meeting of members called for that purpose. An Officer or Member of the Board of Directors who fails to attend three consecutive Board meetings without good cause, as determined by a majority of the remaining Board members, shall be deemed to have resigned from the Board.

SECTION 5. *Place of Meeting.* The Board of Directors may hold their meetings and have one or more offices, and keep the books of the Corporation, either within or outside the State of Maryland, at such place or places as they may from time to time determine by resolution or by written consent of all the Directors. The Board of Directors may hold their meetings by conference telephone or other similar electronic communications equipment in accordance with the provisions of the Maryland Corporate law.

SECTION 6. *Regular Meetings.* Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held monthly on the second Thursday of the month or at a time and place specified by the President and published in the Club newsletter. Any business may be transacted at any regular meeting of the Board. Except for any

portion of a meeting designated by majority vote of the Board as executive session, meetings of the Board of Directors shall be open to the general membership and the public.

A motion to go into executive session shall state the nature of the business of the executive session, and no other matter may be considered in the executive session. Attendance in an executive session shall be limited to the Board and, when requested, the Corporation's staff, its legal counsel, and any persons who are subject of the discussion or whose knowledge is needed.

SECTION 7. *Special or Emergency Meetings.* Special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held whenever called by the President or a majority of the Board of Directors. The Secretary shall give notice of each special meeting of the Board of Directors at least three (3) days prior to the meeting to each Director, but such notice may be waived by any Director. Unless otherwise indicated in the notice thereof, any and all business may be transacted at any special meeting. Any action taken as a result of an Emergency Meeting must be agreed to unanimously by the Board Members present.

SECTION 8. *Quorum.* A majority of the members of the Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at all meetings of the Board of Directors. If at any meeting where less than a quorum shall be present those Directors present must adjourn the meeting. The act of a majority of the Directors present at any meeting at which there is a quorum shall be the act of the Board of Directors, except as may be otherwise specifically provided by law or by the Articles of Incorporation or by these Bylaws. Members of the Board of Directors may participate in a meeting by means of a conference telephone, computer, or similar communications equipment if all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other at the same time. Participation in a meeting by these means constitutes an in-person presence at the meeting.

SECTION 9. *Required Vote.* An affirmative vote of a majority of those present shall be necessary for the passage of any resolution. Final decisions on matters of interest to the general membership, as determined by a majority of the Board, shall not be made during board meetings but shall be referred to the general membership for approval at the next regular business meeting of the membership. The board may make final decisions on any matters which require action before the next regular business meeting of the membership.

SECTION 10. *Nominating Committee.* No later than September 1 of each year, the Board of Directors shall elect a Nominating Committee consisting of not fewer than three (3) Members.

SECTION 11. *Committees and Divisions.* The President shall appoint and the Board of Directors shall ratify committees and divisions for the purpose of performing and meeting the Club mission. Participation on committees and in divisions shall be open to all Members in good standing. Notice of all meetings will be made in accordance with the Bylaws. The Board of Directors, under Article V herein, may authorize a committee or division to establish a separate bank account to fulfill its mission. Committee and division meetings shall be open to the members and to the public.

## ***ARTICLE IV***

### ***Officers***

SECTION 1. *Election, Tenure.* The Officers of the Corporation shall be a President, a Vice President, a Secretary, and a Treasurer. The Officers shall be elected at the annual meeting of the members. The immediate past President may, at his or her discretion, serve as a non-voting Board Member Emeritus for the purpose of club management continuity for a period of up to two (2) terms. Newly elected Officers shall take office on January 1 and at the same time as newly elected At-Large Directors.

In the event that any office other than an office required by law, shall not be filled by the Board of Directors, or, once filled, subsequently becomes vacant, then such office and all references thereto in these Bylaws shall be deemed inoperative unless and until such office is filled in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws.

SECTION 2. *Powers and Duties of the President.* The President shall preside over all meetings of the membership and act as the Chairman of the Board of Directors. The President shall decide all questions of order, sign all official documents of the Corporation, be the chief executive officer of the Corporation and shall have general charge and control of all its business affairs and properties.

SECTION 3. *Powers and Duties of the Vice President.* In case of the absence or disability of the President, the duties of that office shall be performed by the Vice President. Additionally, the Vice President will be responsible for producing a membership meeting presentation schedule.

SECTION 4. *Secretary.* The Secretary shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all meetings of members and directors and all other notices required by law or by these Bylaws. The Secretary shall record all the proceedings of the meetings of the members and of the Directors, keep records of the attendance at Board meetings, maintain and distribute a current roster of all club members, carry on all club correspondence, and read club-related communications to those present at meetings of the Board or membership. The Secretary shall be responsible for administering the update of the Bylaws of the Corporation to incorporate amendments, revisions, or changes; shall distribute copies of amended, revised, or changed Bylaws to the membership within sixty (60) days of the amendment, revision, or change, and shall have the Bylaws and Article of Incorporation in his or her possession at all meetings. The Secretary shall perform such other duties as may be assigned to him or her by the Directors or the President.

SECTION 5. *Treasurer.* The Treasurer shall have custody of all the funds and securities of the Corporations, and shall keep full and accurate accounts of the receipts and disbursements in the books belonging to the Corporation. The Treasurer shall deposit all moneys and other valuables in the name and to the credit of the Corporation in such depository or depositories as may be designated by the Board of Directors.

The Treasurer shall disburse the funds of the Corporation as may be ordered by the Board of Directors, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements. At the close of each quarter of the calendar year, the Treasurer shall prepare an itemized statement of disbursements, receipts, and balances, which shall be posted promptly and conspicuously at the site of the Club business meeting. The Treasurer shall maintain a list of all Corporation property and its value, which shall be included in statements of the Corporation's net worth. Periodic asset inventories may be conducted by a committee overseen by the Treasurer and documented to ensure insurance coverage protects the corporation from catastrophic loss. Inventory schedules will be determined by the Board of Directors. The Treasurer will will prepare and

file required State and Federal tax documents and ensure maintenance of the Corporation's 501(c)(3) status after review and approval by a majority of the Board of Directors.

The Treasurer shall give the Corporation a bond, if required by the Board of Directors, in a sum, and with one or more sureties, satisfactory to the Board of Directors, for the faithful performance of the duties of his or her office and for the restoration to the corporation in case of his or her death, resignation, retirement or removal from office of all books, papers, vouchers, moneys, and other properties of whatever kind in his or her possession or under his or her control belonging to the Corporation.

An independent financial audit, funded by the Corporation, shall be conducted at anytime a new treasurer and or assistant treasurer assumes the duties of the office, or at least every three (3) years.

SECTION 6. *Budget.* The Board of Directors shall present at the September business meeting, for approval at the October business meeting, a proposed operating budgeted for the following year. The Board of Directors will ensure that the Club is operated within fifteen percent (15%) of the approved budget and not at a deficit during any fiscal year.

## ***ARTICLE V***

### ***Bank Accounts***

SECTION 1. *Bank Accounts.* Officers or agents of the Corporation designated by the Board of Directors shall have authority to deposit funds of the Corporation in banks or trust companies as designated by the Board of Directors. Officers or agents of the Corporation shall have the authority to prepare checks, drafts or other instruments or orders for the payment of money, drawn against the Corporation's accounts in which funds of the Corporation are deposited. There shall be certified to the banks or trust companies documentation as may be required of the officers or agents of the Corporation authorized to draw against the accounts of the Corporation. In the event that the Board of Directors shall fail to designate the person(s) by whom checks, drafts and other instruments or orders for payment of money shall be signed, then all such checks, drafts and other instruments or orders for the payment of money shall be signed by the President and countersigned by the Vice President, Secretary or Treasurer.

## ***ARTICLE VI***

### ***Miscellaneous Provisions***

SECTION 1. *Fiscal Year.* The fiscal year of the Corporation shall start on the first day of January and end on the last day of December.

SECTION 2. *Notices.* Whenever, under the provisions of these Bylaws, notice is required to be given to any Director, Officer or Member it shall not be construed to mean personal notice, but such notice

shall be given in writing, and may be transmitted electronically via the internet, or by mail, by depositing the same in a post office or letter box, addressed to each member, Officer or Director at his or her email address, or such address as appears on the books of the Corporation, or in default of any other address, to such Director, Officer or member at her or her general post office, and such notice shall be deemed to be given at the time the same shall be thus mailed or electronically transmitted. Any Member, Director or Officer may waive any notice required to be given under these Bylaws.

SECTION 3. *Conflict of Interest.* In the event any Officer or Director of the Corporation is or may be an officer, director, stockholder, or employee, or have a financial interest in a corporation or other organization with which this Corporation shall enter into a contract or other transaction or shall directly or indirectly be a party to or have an interest in any contract or transaction of the Corporation, he or she shall fully disclose such interest to the Board of Directors. After revealing any such interest, such Director shall abstain from voting on any question in reference to said contract or transaction. Subject to compliance with these requirements of disclosure, no contract or other transaction between this Corporation and any other corporation, partnership, or individual shall be affected by the fact that the Director of this Corporation is interested in or is a director or officer of such other corporations, provided that such contract is negotiated on arm's length basis and is fair and reasonable to the Corporation.

SECTION 4. *Robert's Rules of Order.* Unless otherwise provided for in the Articles or Bylaws, the most current version of "*Robert's Rules of Order*" shall govern proceedings of the Corporation.

## ***ARTICLE VII***

### ***Amendments***

SECTION 1. *Amendment of Articles of Incorporation.* The Articles of Incorporation may be amended by a two-thirds majority of the voting membership present at a meeting held for the purpose of considering such amendment, provided that all members have been furnished the proposed amendments and written notice of the date, time and location of the meeting at least thirty (30) days in advance of the meeting.

SECTION 2. *Amendment of Bylaws.* The Bylaws may be amended by a majority of the voting membership present at a meeting held for the purpose of considering such amendment, provided that all members have been furnished the proposed amendments and written notice of the date, time and location of the meeting at least (30) days in advance of the meeting.

## ***ARTICLE VIII***

### ***Indemnification***

SECTION 1. *Definitions.* As used in this Article VIII, any word or words that are defined in Section 2-418 of the Corporations and Associations Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland, as amended from time to time (the "Indemnification Section") shall have the same meaning as provided in the Indemnification Section.

SECTION 2. *Indemnification of Directors and Officers.* The Corporation shall indemnify and advance expenses to a Director or Officer of the Corporation in connection with a proceeding to the fullest extent permitted by and in accordance with the Indemnification Section. The corporation shall procure and maintain, at its expense, Directors and Officers (D&O) coverage that includes both D&O and Employment Practices Liability coverage.

***ARTICLE IX***

***General Liability Insurance***

SECTION 1. *General Liability Insurance.* The Corporation shall procure and maintain, at its expense, General Liability Insurance in amounts determined to be reasonable and prudent to protect the Corporation from losses defined in insurance policy details.

**BYLAWS RATIFICATION DATE** \_\_\_\_\_

**SIGNED** \_\_\_\_\_

**Anne Arundel Radio Club President**